Before the

Administrative Hearing Commission

State of Missouri

DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC SAFETY,
)



)



Petitioner,
)




)


vs.

)

No.  08-0145 PO




)

CHRISTOPHER M. CORNELL,
)




)



Respondent.
)

DECISION


Christopher M. Cornell is subject to discipline because he committed the criminal offense of using a communication device (telephone) in facilitating the commission of a felony (drug trafficking).

Procedure


On January 23, 2008, the Director of the Department of Public Safety (“the Director”) filed a complaint seeking to discipline Cornell’s peace officer license.  Cornell was served with a copy of the complaint and our notice of complaint/notice of hearing by personal service on April 25, 2008.  We held a hearing on the complaint on August 19, 2008.  Assistant Attorney General Christopher R. Fehr represented the Director.  Although notified of the time, place, and location of the hearing, neither Cornell nor anyone representing him appeared.  The matter was ready for our decision on September 4, 2008, when the transcript was filed.  

Findings of Fact
1. Cornell is licensed as a peace officer.  His license was current and active at all relevant times.
 
2. Between August 27, 2006 and August 31, 2006, Cornell used a telephone to facilitate the commission of a felony – drug trafficking.
3. On September 28, 2006, in the United States District Court, Eastern District of Missouri, an indictment against Cornell and others included the following count:

COUNT III:  USE OF A COMMUNICATION DEVICE TO FACILITATE A FELONY

The Grand Jury further charges that:

On or about between August 27, 2206 [sic] and August 31, 2006, in St. Louis County, in the Eastern District of Missouri and elsewhere, the defendants,

BRUCE GALES

and

CHRISTOPHER M. CORNELL

the defendants herein, with ROBERT WOOD, III – a/k/a “BOBBY WOOD,” did knowingly and intentionally use a communication facility; that being a telephone, in causing or facilitating the commission of acts constituting a felony under the Controlled Substance Act, to wit; attempt to possess with the intent to distribute cocaine, a Schedule II Narcotic Controlled Substance Drug.

All in violation of Title 21, United States Code, Section 843(b) and Title 18, United States Code, Section 2.[
]

4. On July 20, 2007, Cornell pled guilty to one count of use of a communication facility to facilitate a drug trafficking crime.  He was sentenced to imprisonment for a term of 48 months.
Conclusions of Law


We have jurisdiction to hear this complaint.
  The Director has the burden of proving that Cornell has committed an act for which the law allows discipline.


The Director argues that there is cause for discipline under § 590.080.1, which states:


The director shall have cause to discipline any peace officer licensee who:

*   *   *


(2) Has committed any criminal offense, whether or not a criminal charge has been filed; 

(3) Has committed any act while on active duty or under color of law that involves moral turpitude or a reckless disregard for the safety of the public or any person[.]
I.  Criminal Offense

The Director argues that Cornell committed the crime of using a communication device to facilitate commission of a felony under 21 U.S.C. § 843:

(b) Communication facility
It shall be unlawful for any person knowingly or intentionally to use any communication facility in committing or in  causing or facilitating the commission of any act or acts constituting a felony under any provision of this subchapter or subchapter II of this chapter.  Each separate use of a communication facility shall be a separate offense under this subsection.  For the purposes of this subsection, the term “communication facility” means any and all public and private instrumentalities used or useful in the transmission of writing, 
signs, signals, pictures, or sounds of all kinds and includes mail, telephone, wire, radio, and all other means of communication.
The judgment also references 18 U.S.C. § 2:
(a) Whoever commits an offense against the United States or aids, abets, counsels, commands, induces or procures its commission, is punishable as a principal.
(b) Whoever willfully causes an act to be done which if directly performed by him or another would be an offense against the United States, is punishable as a principal.


As evidence, the Director offered certified court records showing that Cornell was convicted of the offense.
  Cornell’s guilty plea and conviction collaterally estops him from denying the offenses.
  Cornell does not attempt to deny that he committed the offense.  He used a telephone to facilitate the commission of felony drug trafficking.  There is cause for discipline under § 590.080.1(2).
II.  Act While on Active Duty or Under Color of Law that Involves 

Moral Turpitude or a Reckless Disregard for the Safety of Others


The Director cites § 590.080.1(3), which allows discipline when a peace officer has committed any act while on active duty or under color of law that involves moral turpitude or a reckless disregard for the safety of the public or any person.  However, the Director has offered no evidence that anything Cornell did was while on active duty or under color of law.  There is no cause for discipline under § 590.080.1(3). 
Summary


We find cause to discipline Cornell’s peace officer license under § 590.080.1(2).  


SO ORDERED on October 9, 2008.


________________________________



NIMROD T. CHAPEL


Commissioner

�The affidavit attached to the Director’s complaint states that Cornell’s license is current and active.  We find that by failing to file an answer to the complaint, Cornell admits that his license was active at the times relevant to this complaint.  Regulation 1 CSR 15-3.380(7).  


�Ex. 3.


	�Section 621.045.  Statutory references, unless otherwise noted, are to RSMo Supp. 2007.


	�Missouri Real Estate Comm’n v. Berger, 764 S.W.2d 706, 711 (Mo. App., E.D. 1989).  


	�The Director cites his Regulation 11 CSR 75-13.090, which defines “committed any criminal offense” to include anyone who has pled guilty to, been found guilty of, or been convicted of any criminal offense.  We cannot apply the regulation because the Director had no authority to promulgate it.


� Carr v. Holt, 134 S.W. 3d 647, 650 (Mo. App., E.D. 2004).
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